IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD R. CARDENAS, JR.

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

<u>A Petition for Review of a Question Certified by</u> <u>the First District Court of Appeal to be of</u> <u>Great Public Importance</u>

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

Eugene K. Polk, Attorney for the Petitioner Fla. Bar No. 0998850 The Law Offices of Terence A. Gross 917 North Palafox St. Pensacola FL 32501 (850) 433-3357

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court gave the jury the standard instruction concerning the presumption of impairment. At the time, this was required by existing case law. <u>Miles v.</u> <u>State</u>, 732 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (<u>Miles I</u>). Despite this, trial defense counsel did object to the instruction, although his objection did not specify that it was based upon the rationale which would not be approved by this Court for another six months. <u>State v. Miles</u>, 775 So.2d 950 (Fla. 2000) (<u>Miles II</u>). In that decision, this Court decided that if the State admits blood alcohol through the traditional predicate (as was done here), there could be no presumptions of impairment. <u>Id</u>. Thus, in this case, the State was entitled to no presumption instruction, and its giving was error.

On direct appeal, the District Court rejected the appellant's argument that because of the erroneous instruction in a close case, a new trial was warranted. The District Court did, however, certify the following question for this Court:

IS IT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR TO GIVE A JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE PRESUMPTION OF IMPAIRMENT IN VIOLATION OF THE PRECEPTS OF *STATE v. MILES*, 775 So. 2d 950 (FLA.2000)?

The petitioner respectfully submits that this Court should answer this question in the affirmative and order a new trial. The error involved was preserved as well as it could have been, and no more specific error had any chance of altering the trial court's decision to give the instruction, since then-existing law required it. <u>Miles I</u>. This error was fundamental, thus reversible, since the error invited the jury to reach a presumptive conclusion on a key issue in an extraordinarily close case.

Mr. Cardenas also respectfully submits that numerous improper arguments by the prosecutor during summation also require a new trial, although the District Court did not address this briefed issue in its decision. These errors significantly contributed to the closeness of this case, and likely destabilized the truth-seeking function of the trial, making the challenged jury instruction even more critical.

In particular, Several comments violated the rules against denigrating the defense and its counsel. <u>Briggs v. State</u>, 455 So.2d 519 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Several others violated the rule that lawyers not express personal opinions or make unsupported arguments before the court. <u>Redish v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). Finally, the prosecutor also violated a stipulated order in limine while simultaneously misrepresenting the testimony of a key witness for both the prosecution and the defense (David Pittman). <u>Houghton v. Bond</u>, 680 So.2d 514 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

ARGUMENT

FIRST POINT ON REVIEW

(QUESTION CERTIFIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT)

IS IT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR TO GIVE A JURY INSTRUC-TION ON THE PRESUMPTION OF IMPAIRMENT IN VIOLA-TION OF THE PRECEPTS OF *STATE v. MILES*, 775 So. 2d 950 (FLA.2000)?

For several reasons, this Court should answer the question in the affirmative.

A. Preservation.

As the dissent below succinctly points out, the majority's focus upon the non-specificity of trial defense counsel's objections to the subject instruction is, with all due respect, illogical. Notably absent from the District Court's opinion is any suggestion or description of an actual circumstance under which a more specific objection to the instruction might have persuaded the trial judge to refrain from giving the challenged instruction.

At the time of the trial, the trial judge was compelled by the existing law to give the subject instruction. <u>Miles I</u>. No degree of specificity in the objection made would or could have altered the judge's determination to give the instruction, assuming as we must, that the trial judge would have followed the then-existing law. Therefore, any further instruction would have been an utterly futile, useless gesture

having *no chance whatsoever* of actually obtaining the specifically requested alternative (no presumption instruction).

In many other areas of law, including some closely related to the situation in this case, Florida courts have repeatedly refused to require lawyers to engage in futile gestures. For example, where the trial court *overrules* an objection to point that if *sustained* might warrant a mistrial, the objecting lawyer is not required to make the futile motion for mistrial to preserve the issue for review. <u>Aerolineas Argentinas S.A. v. Gimenez</u>, 807 So.2d 111 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002); <u>Flour Enterprises, Inc. v. Tri-City Electrical...</u>, 784 So.2d 1260 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001); <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 777 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001). This general principle arises in a wide variety of cases.

In this case, the law compelled the giving of the subject instruction, regardless of how specifically defense counsel might have objected to it, so, just as surely as a judge who has overruled an objection would deny a motion for mistrial, the trial judge in this would and could only have rejected even a more specific objection, and would and could only have given the subject instruction.

In another analogous situation, this Court has explicitly condemned what it characterized as "charades in trial". In <u>Dosdourian v. Carsten</u>, 624 So.2d 241 (Fla. 1993), this Court stated that it was taking a "strong stand" against charades in trial. In <u>Dosdourian</u>, the "charade" involved permitting the parties to portray a tort case

-8-

in a misleading way through the use of so-called "Mary Carter" agreements, which distort the truth through concealing partial settlements between colluding former adversaries.

The rationale of the <u>Dosdourian</u> case was extended into the context of uninsured motorist (UM) insurance cases in which the UM carrier attempted to portray itself in some role other than that which it really occupied, in order to cast itself in a more favorable light before the jury. <u>Lamz v. GEICO</u>, 803 So.2d 593 (Fla. 2001); <u>Medina v. Peralta</u>, 705 So.2d 703 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

Obviously, the specific evil addressed in <u>Dosdourian</u> and its progeny was somewhat different than that alleged by the petitioner in this case. Those cases address the problem of taking deceptive positions that will likely mislead jurors, or more broadly, that threaten the integrity of the jury system. See <u>Allstate v. Boecher</u>, 733 So.2d 993 (Fla. 1999) (citing <u>Dosdourian</u>).

While judges in Florida are an able group, like the rest of humanity, they too may be misled. The District Court's position in this case encourages lawyers to engage in misleading "charades" before trial courts. Under this holding, lawyers must make pointless and legally unsupported objections, if there is any likelihood that the issue involved might be subject to later review, on the chance that the law might change in their favor in the future. To the extent that lawyers succeed with

-9-

such baseless objections, that success must be the result of a misled or mistaken trial judge. Encouraging such a dynamic is hardly a desirable goal.

Obviously, the operative facts of this case are different from the line of "Mary Carter" and concealed UM carrier cases. On the other hand, there is a striking equitable parallel between this case and those lines of cases. In this case, the majority decision in the court below would essentially require trial defense counsel to have engaged in the deceptive charade of making a baseless objection which was not then supported by law, as if it had some chance of actually working. On the other hand, *everyone involved*, the trial judge, defense counsel, the prosecutor, and the three honorable judges of the District Court, *all* understood that there was no further objection possible which would have had any chance of properly changing the trial judges decision to give the presumption instruction.

In reaching its holding, the District Court also overlooked the very purpose of making timely and specific objections. Objections at trial are not meaningless rituals or incantations. Rather, the prime reason for requiring timely, specific objections is to apprise the trial judge of an incipient error and to allow the trial court, which is in the best position to prevent error and control damage, to correct a situation before it rises to the level of reversible error. <u>Franqui v. State</u>, 804 So.2d 1185 (Fla. 2002); <u>A.F. v. State</u>, 718 So.2d 260 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998); <u>Norton v. State</u>, 709 So.2d 87 (Fla. 1998). This purpose is simply not implicated here,

-10-

where the allegedly required objection could not, at the time of trial, have led the trial judge to any other decision than the one he reached. Where its purpose is not implicated, the contemporaneous objection rule need and ought not be enforced. <u>A.F. v. State, *supra*</u>.

B. Did the Challenged Presumption Instruction "Merely Advise the Jury of an Evidentiary Presumption..."?

In its opinion, the District Court founded part of its fundamental error analysis upon the specific assertion that the "challenged instruction merely advised the jury of an evidentiary presumption or permissible inference that they were free to accept or reject. See State v. Rolle, 560 So.2d 1154, 1156 (Fla.1990); Register v. State, 582 So.2d 762, 763 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)". <u>Cardenas v. State</u>, 816 So.2d 724 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

With all due respect, this statement is a form of circular logic which effectively translates into "the instruction is not fundamental error because we say it is not fundamental error." *This* Court has ruled that when a blood test is admitted outside the confined of the implied consent system, there is to be no presumption instruction. <u>Miles II</u>. Thus, as this Court has since clarified, the challenged instruction *wrongfully* advised the jury of an evidentiary presumption or permissible inference that they were *not* free to accept or reject. So, far from "merely advising" the jury, this instruction incorrectly invited a presumptive finding upon a key element of this serious felony case.

C. Was Giving the Presumption Instruction Fundamental Error?

The opinions which form the backbone of the District Court's finding of no fundamental error are not applicable on the facts of this case. None of these cases involves a situation in which the trial court gave what turned out to be a completely unsupported instruction, which also invited a presumptive finding upon a key element of the charged offense. For example, in <u>State v. Delva</u>, 575 So.2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991), this court addressed a situation in which the instruction given at trial, was later held to be merely *defective* by this Court. <u>State v. Dominguez</u>, 509 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1987). In that case, an instruction was given, but was later deemed defective because it simply lacked the element of knowledge, later held essential in <u>Dominguez</u>, but not objected to by Dominguez.

This case is different. Here, a wholly erroneous instruction was given where in fact, none should have been given. Moreover, the instruction went to the heart of a key issue (impairment in a BUI Manslaughter case), and not to a secondary or trivial point.

The other cases relied upon by the Court below all involve fundamentally different situations in which the complaining defendant argued either that some *defect* in a given instruction should be cause for a new trial, or that an otherwise

necessary instruction was *not* given. Archer v. State, 673 So.2d 17, 20 (Fla. 1996) (defendant claimed that valid standard instructions to resentencing jury failed to properly apprise jury of the meaning of reasonable doubt-not fundamental error); Geralds v. State, 674 So.2d 96, 98-99 (Fla. 1996) (defendant not entitled to instruction directing jury not to consider non-violent felonies where defendant himself brought those to jury's attention and ultimately, the omission would be harmless in an overwhelming 12-0 death case); Tolbert v. State, 679 So.2d 816 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (defendant failed to specifically object to jury being instructed on permissive lesser included offense waived challenge to conviction where one element of LIO not charged in information-again not fundamental). These are all far less compelling situations than one in which no instruction should have been given, and the one that was invited a presumptive finding on a key element of the case.

Finally, the petitioner respectfully submits that the District Court wholly overlooked the fact that the "closeness" of a case is relevant, although not exclusively so, to the question of whether an error is fundamental. As disputed issues become closer and closer, it becomes easier and easier for errors to reach down to and affect the foundation of a fair trial. <u>Baillie v. State</u>, 782 So.2d 435 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); <u>Miller v. State</u>, 782 So.2d 426 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) (essentially a more detailed twin of the preceding, each arising from the infamous stolen stop sign

-13-

case); <u>Ratley v. Batchellor</u>, 599 So.2d 1298 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); <u>Tuff v. State</u>, 509 So.2d 953 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); <u>Ryan v. State</u>, 457 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

This was a case in which the jury could easily have gone either way. The record is replete with information which could just as easily have supported a not guilty verdict. The defendant denied he was driving. His biomechanical engineer testified he was not, and further, that victim Parrish had injuries consistent with his having been the driver. Although cut and immediately bleeding from his injuries, none of Mr. Cardenas' DNA was found in any of the many blood samples taken in the areas where the state's engineer indicated Mr. Cardenas' body had been thrown during the accident. And Mr. Cardenas' alleged admissions to driving were never reported or recorded until after victim Parrish's wife had sold a boat to one of the investigators at a discount, and with interest-free financing. Thus, with virtually every material fact in legitimate dispute, the jury was wrongfully directed to presume one of the key foundational elements of this BUI Manslaughter case.

SECOND POINT FOR REVIEW

WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S REPEATED IMPROPER COMMENTS CLOSING IN ARGUMENT WERE SUFFICIENTLY DAMAGING TO REQUIRE REVERSAL OF MR. CARDENAS' CONVICTIONS IN AND OF THEMSELVES, OR WHERE IT IS MOST PROBABLE THAT THEY SIGNIFICANTLY CONTRIBUTED TO THE POTENTIAL CONFUSION OF THE JURY, THUS MAKING THE CASE EVEN CLOSER THAN IT WOULD OTHERWISE HAVE BEEN, IN TURN, MAKING THE ERRONEOUS JURY INSTRUCTION **EVER MORE CRITICAL.**

This point was not explicitly certified for review by the District Court. Petitioner believes it is still ripe for review since the comments described were sufficiently egregious that they likely played a significant role in the jury's deliberation. With an already close case, the effect of these comments, *combined* with the improper presumption instruction created a situation in which it can not be shown that the errors involved did not affect the verdict. In short, it is likely that the combined effect of heavily distorting argument with an improper presumption instruction remove any confidence that the verdict in this case was well or properly founded. Since this Court should examine the overall effect of the errors involved on the jury, this issue is also reviewable. See <u>Burks v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 441(Fla. 1993).

On several occasions, the prosecutor indulged in seriously improper argument during his summation. Some of these arguments drew objections, while

-15-

others did not. Some of these comments taken by themselves, either approach or equate to fundamental error, which should justify a new trial, even absent an objection. On the other hand, the cumulative effect of all of these comments together sufficiently tainted the trial, that a new trial is warranted regardless of the objections made during the arguments.

a. The prosecutor repeatedly expressed personal opinions not supported by record evidence, made untrue statements of the evidence, or both.

It is clear under Florida law that lawyers are not permitted to express their own personal opinions concerning a case during closing arguments. <u>Lewis v.</u> <u>State</u>, 780 So.2d 125 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001); <u>Redish v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 1374 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); R. Regulating Fla. Bar. 4-3.4(e).

One particular reason why it is improper for a prosecutor to himself testify as to his opinions is that, while he adds his "evidence" to the jury's collective knowledge, he is not himself controlled by the rules of admissibility of evidence, nor is he ever subject to the crucible of cross-examination.

In this case, the prosecutor violated this rule on a number of occasions. Some of these violations amounted to flatly false assertions. For example, at one point, the prosecutor claimed that "[t]he defendant admitted yesterday, through the pictures I gave, that the wall was pushed downward. If they didn't get a top– if there was not a compression from the top $-.^{2}$ (VIII. T. 1382/19-23).

Defense counsel immediately objected, noting the outright falsity of the comment. (VIII. T. 1382/24-25).

Despite the trial court's response that the jury was to "recall the evidence," the prosecutor persisted in pushing this false statement of fact, in other words, merely his opinion, upon the jury. (VIII. T. 1383/5-9). His continued comments simply completed his expression of wholly unsupported opinion to the jury. Unfortunately, despite timely objection, the trial court did not take forceful action to curb this misconduct. (VIII. T. 1382/24 - 1383/4).

On yet another occasion, the prosecutor again mischaracterized Mr. Cardenas' testimony. When discussing an incident which took place in Mr. Cardenas' workplace, where Mr. Cardenas had taken some photos showing the accident, the prosecutor claimed that the "defendant, when he testified, admitted that he brought that to work. *He admitted that Al Bates saw that photograph.*

The only thing he denies is making that statement"³ (emphasis added).

² This point also constituted another unsupported attack upon the credibility of the defense case, since the prosecutor was trying to make the defense theory appear impossible, while no evidence supported the actual assertion.

³ The statement being an equivocal suggestion that he might have been the operator at the time of the accident. Mr. Cardenas denied the statement, and Mr. Bates was apparently quite confused about these facts, as his testimony on cross-examination revealed. (cf. direct exam at V. T. 902/18 - 903/15 with cross at V. T. 910/1 - 911/14).

The transcript of Mr. Cardenas' testimony reveals that this argument is

untrue. Mr. Cardenas *did not* admit that Al Bates saw the photo. (VII. T. 1267/18 - 1268/5). He not only denied making the statement Mr. Bates claimed he made, but he also denied that Mr. Bates ever saw the subject photos. Therefore, quite clearly, both of the emphasized statements of the prosecutor *are false*. They are, then, at best, nothing more than the prosecutor's unfounded personal opinion. At worst, it cannot be ruled out that they represent a deliberate attempt to mislead the jury with false information.

On still another occasion, the prosecutor indulged in argument without any basis in fact. When discussing the height of the windshield relative to a standing driver, he stated

and you noticed yesterday Mr. Cardenas, when I asked him, how far did that windshield come up on you when you stand behind it? Oh, it comes up to my neck. That's impossible sir. It can't come up to your neck because you're not that tall – or that small. *And he finally agreed it came up to his chest* (emphasis added). (VIII. T. 1393/20 - 1394/1).

Mr. Cardenas, however, never admitted this, as the trial transcript plainly reveals. (VII. T. 1231/13 - 1232/11). The stark contrast between the prosecutor's argument and the truth, reflected in the transcript, show yet another example of this prosecutor's willingness to ignore fact, common sense, legal ethics, and the law through his obvious eagerness to say almost anything, regardless of its factual support, in order to secure victory.

On another occasion, as described in the following sub-section (describing various denigrations of the defense), the prosecutor rendered his own expert opinion in disagreement with Dr. Nicodemus, the defendant's expert, saying "I beg to differ, and I'm not a mechanical – biomechanical engineer. The type of vehicle is very important. Because in a car, you're more restricted. In this one, you have an open cockpit, and you have a seat pushed up against someone's legs as they're driving the boat." (VIII. T. 1377/19 - 1378/2).

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