#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	)	
Petitioner,	)	
	)	CASE NO. SC02-927
VS.	)	
	)	DCA CASE NO. 5D00-1717
HOWARD RUSSELL BONINE,	)	
	)	
Respondent,	)	
	)	

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

#### RESPONDENT'S MERIT BRIEF

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROSEMARIE FARRELL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar Number 0101907 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 Phone: (386) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

# **

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

A major purpose of implied consent law is to ensure the reliability of scientific evidence for use in future court proceedings by establishing uniform, approved procedures for testing. According the same deference to results of tests performed with samples collected and maintained using substandard quality assurance safeguards utterly defeats the purpose of the law and stands the rule on its head.

The Petitioner argues that the Respondent's counsel never preserved the issue of instructing the jury on presumptions of impairment for appellate review. Respondent's counsel relied upon then-current law from the Second District Court of Appeal in arguing that the State by its failure to satisfy the mandate for quality assurance upon which the implied consent statute is based, forfeited its privilege of obtaining presumptions of impairment because the blood test result was of questionable value and integrity. That same authority provided that where the common-law Bender/Robertson predicate can otherwise be met, the presumptions could be applied. The defense argued that the reliability predicate was not met, and Respondent argues that it never can nor will be met, absent safeguards that insure the integrity of the blood sample itself. The defense objection to the admissibility of the blood evidence encompasses and presumes objection to the presumptions

of impairment thereupon.

Counsel cannot be expected to anticipate and preserve objections based upon future developments in the law. Moreover any jury instruction which shifts the burden of proof as do the presumptions of impairment when given without the benefits and safeguards of the implied consent law, is fundamental error. In particular, a supreme court decision which applies or announces a rule of criminal law, must be applied to any case pending on direct review and not yet final.

The State argues that harmless error analysis should be applied because the only way a jury verdict would be influenced by the erroneous presumption instruction, is if the jury had itself determined that there was an unlawful blood alcohol level. The State is arguing the validity of verdicts based upon a process which its own toxicology witness admitted flouts reliability safeguards.

Next the Petitioner argues that just because an "alternative **method** of proving impairment is erroneously used that does not make the **theory** of impairment unlawful." If there is adequate evidence to support an erroneously used method of improving impairment, the State contends that "[i]t is still a lawful theory of guilt." Respondent disagrees. It is precisely the erroneous use or missinstruction of one legal theory in the face of two alternatives which nullifies a general jury verdict.

Finally, the Petitioner argues that there was overwhelming evidence to show that the Respondent was guilty based both on the theory of impairment and on the invalid alternative legal ground of unlawful blood alcohol level. When it cannot be discerned which of the two theories the jury relied upon in arriving at its verdict, this is the same thing as saying that a verdict based upon an invalid law is acceptable.

In the alternative, even if this Court were to accept that instructing a jury that it can find guilt based upon a legally insufficient theory might be subject to harmless error analysis in a case where evidence of guilt based upon the other theory is overwhelming, this is not such a case. There were no witnesses to the accident itself, none but tenuous theories of what happened were presented, the State's own law enforcement witnesses were evenly divided on the subject of the Respondent's sobriety, field sobriety exercises were not administered, no citations were issued, and the Respondent was sent home after the blood draw.

This Court is asked to affirm the *en banc* decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE FIFTH DCA'S DECISION MUST BE
AFFIRMED BECAUSE WHERE THE STATUTORY
PRESUMPTIONS OF IMPAIRMENT ARE BASED
UPON A BLOOD ALCOHOL READING OF
UNKNOWN INTEGRITY THEY ARE LEGALLY
INVALID DUE TO A FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH
THE MANDATE FOR QUALITY ASSURANCE
UPON WHICH THE IMPLIED CONSENT LAW IS
BASED. EVEN IF SUCH A CASE WERE SUBJECT
TO HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS, WHERE AS
HERE THE EVIDENCE OF IMPAIRMENT WAS IN
CONFLICT, REVERSAL WOULD STILL BE
REQUIRED.

In Robertson v. State, 604 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1992), the Florida Supreme Court recalled that "the Bender Court expressly recognized that the implied consent law includes an exclusionary rule prohibiting the use of blood-test results taken contrary to its core policies." According to the Bender Court, none of the statutory presumptions could be applied in the absence of compliance to the administrative rules. State v. Bender, 382 So.2d 697, 700 (Fla. 1980). If there is an argument that the Respondent did not preserve an objection to the jury instruction on the statutory presumptions, that would appear to be it. As binding Supreme Court precedent, Bender and Robertson both proscribed application of the statutory presumptions of impairment to blood-alcohol test results deemed admissible via the common-law predicate, as opposed to compliance with the administrative rules.

It is unclear whether the holding of the Second District Court of Appeal in State v. Miles resulted from a misreading of Bender and Robertson or the separate problem, that on its face the Miles case appeared to satisfy the letter if not the overarching purpose of the administrative rules:

Robertson also instructs that the implied consent law does not constitute the only means by which bloodalcohol test results may be admitted into evidence. In the event the state lays the three-pronged predicate described in Bender, and successfully withstands any and all defense rebuttal, the evidence is deemed scientifically reliable, hence admissible. After admissibility has been determined in accordance with the common law principles, *it seems*, and we hold, that the legislatively created presumptions wth respect to impairment are applicable to the blood-alcohol test results which have been determined to be admissible into evidence.

[Emphasis added.]

732 So.2d 350, 353 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). The Court admits that the issue is not entirely clear and goes on to certify the issue which was ultimately decided by this Honorable Court in State v. Miles, 775 So.2d 950 (Fla. 2000)(recognizing that the State's obligation for quality assurance under the implied consent law would otherwise be pursued less vigorously, the common law approach (the three-prong predicate) and the presumptions are mutually exclusive to the extent that the presumptions are specifically contingent upon compliance with the mandate for quality assurance of the implied consent law.)

In response to the argument that the Petitioner makes that the objection to jury instruction on implied consent presumptions of impairment was not preserved, Respondent first claims that the error of giving a jury instruction which shifts the burden of proof is fundamental error. Compare Quaggin v. State, 752 So.2d 19 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000)(where a trial judge gives an instruction that is an incorrect statement of the law and necessarily misleads the jury, and the effect of the instruction is to negate the defendant's only defense, it is fundamental error and highly prejudicial to the defendant).

In particular, all supreme court decisions applying or announcing rules of criminal law must be applied retrospectively to all cases, state or federal, that are pending on direct review or not yet final. Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314 (1987); Smith v. State, 598 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 1992) (where standard jury instruction had changed subsequent to trial, a conviction was reversed because decisional law in effect at the time of the appeal governs the issues raised on appeal).

A change in the state of the law intervening between trial and appeal seldom occurs and usually is not foreseeable. <u>Florida East Coast Railway Company v.</u>

<u>Rouse</u>, 194 So.2d 260, 262 (Fla. 1967). Regardless of the failure of the parties to attack the validity of a holding, the appellate court is required to apply the law as it exists at the time of appeal. <u>Florida East Coast Railway Company</u>. In any case,

his trial counsel's argument did preserve the objection. The defense timely objected to the reliability of the blood alcohol test result based upon the lack of procedural safeguards in the administrative rules, and his objection was overruled. Smith. Moreover, his further objection that the first prong of the common law predicate was not met and indeed cannot be met, encompasses and presumes objection to the presumptions of impairment thereupon. <u>Bender</u>; <u>Robertson</u>, <u>Miles</u>, supra, 775 at 954-957. Respondent submits, and urges that this Court adopt, the view that the initial, reliability prong of the common law predicate can never be met absent handling, preservation, and maintenance safeguards that insure the integrity of the blood sample itself. When the court determined that the administrative rules governing handling and storage of legal blood samples retrieved via the implied consent statutory scheme provided insufficient safeguards of reliability, whether or not the State was entitled to the statutory presumption of impairment based upon satisfaction of the three-prong predicate under Robertson, is a question of law subject to de novo review. See State v. R.R., 697 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)(aspects or components of a trial court's decision resolving legal questions are subject to de novo review); Wilson v. State, 673 So. 2d 505 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 682 So. 2d 1101 (Fla. 1996)(same).

In the instant case there were 15 days of unaccounted-for handling and

storage of the blood sample taken from the Appellant on June 2, 1998 before it was received on June 17, 1998, and tested on July 30, 1998. At that time, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement Administrative Rule 11D-8.012 governing the labeling and sampling of blood contained no provision for preservation of samples taken. State v. Miles, 775 at 954 (where testing did not occur until 14 days after the blood draw, and no provision for preservation or refrigeration of the sample could be shown, the test result lacks integrity and the rule fails to satisfy the quality assurance provisions of the implied consent law with the result that the State is not entitled to the statutory presumptions of impairment). Nonetheless, in abrogation of the implied consent statute the statutory presumptions of impairment were part of the instructions given the jury. The State argues that the result should be analyzed as harmless error.

According to the implied consent statute, anyone who drives on Florida roads is deemed to have consented to submit to an appropriate test to determine blood alcohol content upon arrest for an offense allegedly committed while driving under the influence of alcohol or other prohibited substance. Miles; Fla. Stat., Sections 316.1932, 316.1933, 316.1934 (1995).

The purpose of those portions of sections 322.261 and 322.262, Florida Statutes which direct that law enforcement use only approved techniques and

methods is to ensure reliable scientific evidence for use in future court proceedings and to protect the health of those persons being tested, who by this statute have given their implied consent to these tests. Miles, citing State v. Bender, 382 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1980). None of the statutory presumptions apply in the absence of compliance with the administrative rules. Bender at 700. In the event of the State's noncompliance with safeguards of the statute, it must resort to the traditional, common-law predicates set forth in Robertson, and it is error to instruct the jury on any of the presumptions of the implied consent law. Robertson v. State, 604 at 791.

The absence of blood preservation and maintenance standards in the FDLE administrative rules fails to ensure the reliability of blood alcohol test rests, and the State is not entitled to the presumptions of impairment of the implied consent statute. Miles, 775 at 955. The statutory presumptions are "specifically contingent upon compliance with the mandate for quality assurance of the implied consent law." Miles, supra.

Contrary to the Petitioner's assertion, it was harmful error for the trial court to have charged the jury to make the statutory presumption of impairment, once the absence of quality assurance safeguards, the non-integrity of the test sample and the unreliability of the results were determined to be in noncompliance with the

implied consent statute, regardless of whether or not the State satisfied the common-law predicates pursuant to Robertson. Contra McBride v. State, 816 So.2d 656 (Fla. 2dDCA 2002)(clear error of trial court in instructing jury on statutory presumptions of impairment was harmless, given other, overwhelming evidence supporting conviction). However, where there is no way to determine which of several theories was relied upon by a jury in reaching a general verdict, the possibility that one of the theories relied upon was an erroneous statutory presumption theory requires reversal. Servis v. State, 802 So.2d 359 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001); see also Bass v. State, 801 So.2d 975 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001)(where it cannot be concluded that the state's use of the presumption did not likely contribute to the jury's verdict, reversal for a new trial is required.) The State's argument that the presumption is harmless since the jury must first conclude that there was an unlawful blood alcohol level, argues that the faulty conclusion is acceptable so long as it is based upon the faulty premise.

The <u>Bonine</u> Court in making a distinction between an invalid legal theory and legally insufficient evidentiary support for a valid legal theory, distinguishes between the flawed legal premise that potentially invalidates the jury's conclusion in the form of the verdict and the imperfect results of valid legal theories and processes which in the event of legal error must occasionally be reviewed for harmlessness

notwithstanding the soundest of legal premises. Neither the Petitioner nor the dissenting judges in <u>Bonine</u> seem willing or able to let go of the notion that there is a *blood alcohol level* in evidence, despite the State's own toxicology witness's testimony that if the blood sample had not been properly maintained the test result would not be a reliable reading of what the level would have been at the time the blood was drawn. (T III, 401-403). <u>See State v. Miles</u>, 775 at 954 (experts agree that without benefit of anticoagulant, preservative, and refrigeration, exposure of a blood sample to a certain level of heat and/or bacteria over time may give false high alcohol reading). Instead the inflammatory, likely-false, high readings are repeated as justification for perpetuation of the legal error which created them.

The State's argument that an erroneously used alternative method of proving impairment is different that an unlawful alternative theory of impairment is a distinction without a difference. How, as the State argues, can there be adequate evidence to support an erroneously used alternative method of impairment?

In the alternative, contrary to the State's assertion that "[t]here was no conflict in the evidence at trial" there was conflict in the evidence of sobriety/impairment, there were admitted errors in crime scene reconstruction by expert witnesses, there was conflict in the theory of how and exactly where the accident occurred. No field sobriety exercises were conducted, no citations were

issued, and the Respondent was sent home pending the results of the blood draw.

If it is possible to find harmless error in a case with a legally invalid alternative theory based upon overwhelming evidence, this is not such a case.

The purpose of implied consent law which was to establish uniform, approved procedures for testing to ensure reliable scientific evidence for use in future court proceedings was clearly frustrated in the instant case. Robertson, 604 at 789. As a result none of the statutory presumptions apply in the absence of compliance with the administrative rules. Bender, 382 at 700. There is no way to analyze a jury's general verdict to determine whether or not it relied upon the invalid statutory presumptions. Servis; Bass; contra McBride.

Moreover, failure to correctly instruct a jury which reduces the State's burden of proof on an essential element of the charged crime is fundamental error.

Young v. State, 753 So.2d 725 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). The Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision reversing for a new trial must be affirmed.

#### CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the cases, authorities, and policies cited herein, the Respondent requests that this Honorable Court approve the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, reversing and remanding for a new trial.